A. INTRODUCTION 

Dennis Giancoli and his co-defendant Christopher 

Conklin were convicted of the same crimes; raised identical 

arguments on appeal; and secured the same concessions on 

those arguments from the State. Mr. Conklin's appeal was 

heard by Division One, which reversed all of his "strike" 

convictions. Mr. Giancoli's appeal was heard by Division Two, 

which refused to afford him the same relief. 

Mr. Giancoli is a third-striker who will die in prison if 

this Court does not act to correct this gross miscarriage of 

justice. Review is warranted on this ground alone. 

Review is further warranted to assess the constitutionality 

of three-strikes sentences, which are imposed in a racially 

disparate manner and fail to comport with evolving standards of 

decency. 
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B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW 

Dennis Giancoli, the petitioner, asks this Court to review 

the opinion of the Court of Appeals in State v. Giancoli, No. 

56287-1-II (Oct. 31, 2023) pursuant to RAP 13.4(b). 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Mr. Giancoli and his co-defendant Mr. Conklin raised 

the same legal challenges on appeal. In both appeals, the State 

conceded errors occurred in securing each of the "strike" 

convictions. By chance, Mr. Conklin's case was transferred 

from Division Two to Division One and heard first. Based on 

the State's concessions, Division One reversed all of Mr. 

Conklin' s "strike" convictions. Division Two refused to afford 

Mr. Giancoli the same relief. Review is warranted to correct 

this gross miscarriage of justice and violation of equal 

protection. U.S. Const. amend. XIV. 

2. This Court struck down the death penalty under article 

I, section 14 because a statistical study demonstrated it was 

2 



administered in an arbitrary and racially biased manner and this, 

combined with other jurisdictions' practices, showed it did not 

comport with evolving standards of decency. 

a. Data from the Caseload Forecast Council show 

that 37% of those serving death-in-prison sentences 

under the three-strikes law are Black, even though Black 

people make up only 4.4% of Washington's population. 

Moreover, only ten other states impose death-in-prison 

sentences under similar recidivist schemes. Given these 

circumstances, the constitutionality of the three-strikes 

law is a significant question of law that merits review. 

RAP 13.4(b)(3). 

b. Approximately 38% of those sentenced to die in 

prison for a second-degree assault "strike" offense are 

Black, and no other state in the nation includes crimes 

comparable to Washington's second-degree assault in the 

list of offenses that result in death-in-prison sentences. 

Whether the inclusion of second-degree assault as a 

3 



"strike" offense is constitutional is a significant question 

of law that merits this Court's review. RAP l 3.4(b )(3). 

3. Eyewitness identification that was obtained by 

impermissibly suggestive police procedures must be excluded 

pursuant to due process. U.S. Const. amend. XIV;Manson v. 

Braithwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 114, 97 S. Ct. 3342, 53 L. Ed. 2d 140 

(1977). In State v. Derri, this Court held that in assessing the 

element of suggestibility, courts "must apply relevant, widely 

accepted modem science on eyewitness identification." 199 

Wn.2d 658, 675, 11 P.3d 1267 (2022). This Court further held 

modem science dictates that "identification procedures should 

be administered in a double-blind fashion, meaning the 

administrator does not know who the suspect is." Id. at 675, 

680. Disregarding this precedent, Division Two held that the 

absence of a double-blind procedure here was not 

impermissibly suggestive, because there was no evidence it 

"made any difference." Op. at 15. In doing so, Division Two 

disregarded Derri' s directive to apply modem science in 

4 



evaluating eyewitness procedures, warranting this Court's 

review. RAP 13 .4(b )(1 ). Review is further warranted as 

single-blind procedures appear routine in Pierce County despite 

its widely acknowledged suggestibility, raising an issue of 

substantial public interest. RAP 13 .4(b )( 4 ). 

4. Any fact, other than a prior conviction, that increases 

the mandatory minimum or maximum sentence is an essential 

element of the offense. State v. Allen, 192 Wn.2d 526, 538, 431 

P.3d 117 (2018); Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 476, 

120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000);Alleyne v. United 

States, 570 U.S. 99, 116, 133 S. Ct. 2151, 186 L. Ed. 2d 314 

(2013); U.S. Const. amend. V, VI. Lack of notice of an 

essential element requires reversal of the conviction. State v. 

Siers, 158 Wn. App. 686, 244 P.3d 15 (2010), rev'd on other 

grounds in State v. Siers, 174 Wn.2d 269, 274 P.3d 358 (2012). 

Here, the Court of Appeals concluded that lack of notice 

required reversal of the firearm enhancements on the assault 

convictions. Op. at 19-21. The firearm enhancements 

5 



increased the maximum and minimum penalties, and therefore 

were essential elements of the assaults. However, the Court of 

Appeals refused to reverse the assault convictions, warranting 

this Court's review as a significant question of constitutional 

law. RAP 13.4(b)(3). 

5. Due process requires sufficient evidence to sustain a 

conviction. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 317-18, 99 S. 

Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979) U.S. Const. amend. XIV. In 

State v. Recuenco, this Court stated the definition of a "firearm" 

under RCW 9.41.010(12) required the State to prove a firearm's 

"operability." 163 Wn.2d 428, 437, 180 P.3d 1276 (2008). 

However, the Court of Appeals has struggled to apply 

Recuenco, variously holding that a firearm's operability is a 

required showing, see State v. Pierce, 155 Wn. App. 701, 714, 

230 P.3d 237 (2010), and conversely that Recuenco 's statement 

is dicta. State v. Olsen, 10 Wn. App. 2d 731, 737, 449 P.3d 

1089 (2019); State v. Tasker, 193 Wn. App. 575, 581-82, 373 

P.3d 310 (2016). Here, Division Two held the State was not 
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required to prove the handgun Mr. Giancoli was accused of 

possessing was operable, even though the gun was never fired 

nor found. Review is appropriate to clarify that Recuenco 

requires the State to prove the operability of a firearm to sustain 

an unlawful possession conviction. RAP 13.4(b)(l), (2). 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Mr. Giancoli commits his first strike at age 17 and 

his second strike at 21, and then commits no 

violent offenses for nearly 30 years. 

Mr. Giancoli is of mixed heritage: his father is white and 

his mother is Indigenous, affiliated with the Cree First Nations. 

CP 268. Mr. Giancoli grew up on the Muckleshoot 

Reservation. Id. 

Both Mr. Giancoli's father and mother were physically 

abusive and neglectful. CP 267-68. He spent time in foster 

care and was a runaway. CP 270. 

When Mr. Giancoli was 17, he hit a corrections staff 

member at Green Hill School, a juvenile detention facility. CP 

272. He was charged with second degree assault, convinced to 
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agree to the declination of jurisdiction, and convicted in adult 

court. CP 272. This was Mr. Giancoli's first "strike" offense. 

When Mr. Giancoli was released, he was only 18 years 

old with no family or home to return to. CP 272. He joined the 

Native Gangster Bloods and became addicted to drugs and 

alcohol. CP 272-73. 

Shortly after he turned 21, Mr. Giancoli broke into 

several houses to steal food and clothing and use the shower. 

CP 273. He was arrested and pled guilty to burglary in the first 

degree-his second strike. Id. 

In the decades since, Mr. Giancoli has been in and out of 

prison for crimes related to his addiction. CP 347. However, 

he was not been convicted of a violent crime for nearly thirty 

years. Id. 

2. Arlen Stebbins and John Fryer are assaulted in the 

middle of the night by two unidentified men. 

Arlen "Corky" Stebbins owned property in Lakebay. 

7/19/2021 RP 662. Mr. Stebbins left the property "dormant" 
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and was an "absentee landlord." 7/19/2021 RP 669; 8/2/2021 

RP495. 

In November 2019, Mr. Stebbins and his friend Jolm 

Fryer drove out to the property. 7/19/2021 RP 670. They were 

surprised to find several things missing. 7/19/2021 RP 670, 

681, 693-94. They decided to stay in a mobile home on the 

property for several nights. 7/19/2021 RP 701-702, 709-10. 

At around 4:00 a.m., Mr. Stebbins and Mr. Fryer awoke 

to see a man standing over them holding what appeared to be a 

handgun. 7/19/2021 RP711, 715; 7/29/2021 RP449. Mr. 

Fryer variably described the man as looking "Mexican or 

Italian, Greek, something like that" as well as "Caucasian," 

"white," and "kinda Hispanic." 7/29/2021 RP at 451; Exhibit 

58A at 3:43. By contrast, Mr. Stebbins definitively described 

this man as "white " as well as "about 6' tall" and "kind of 
' 

grizzly." 7/12/2021 54; 7/19/2021 RP 721. 

The man asked them where "Larry" was, and insisted the 

owner of Mr. Stebbins' property was actually "Larry." 
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7/19/2021 RP712, 715; 7/29/2021 RP448. Mr. Stebbins 

protested that he, not "Larry," was the owner of the property. 

7/19/2021 RP 715. 

A second man appeared, carrying a rifle. 7/19/2021 RP 

716. Mr. Stebbins described this second man as shorter than 

the first man and blonde with a blond mustache, while Mr. 

Fryer described the second man as clean shaven. 7/19/2021 RP 

721, 789; 7/29/2021 RP 456-57. 

The two men ordered Mr. Stebbins and Mr. Fryer out of 

the house at gunpoint. 7/19/2021 RP 717. Once outside, the 

men ordered them to get into a black Escalade. 7/19/2021 RP 

723; 7/29/2021 461. Mr. Fryer later told the 911 operator it 

was obvious the two men thought he and Mr. Stebbins were 

"squatting" on the property. Exhibit 1 Q at 5 (CAD log); 

Exhibit 58 at 21 :20. 

When Mr. Stebbins protested, one of the men-Mr. 

Stebbins and Mr. Fryer did not agree on which one-hit Mr. 

Stebbins in the face with their gun. 7/19/2021 RP 728; 

10 



8/2/2021 RP 515-16. Mr. Fryer took that opportunity to flee. 

RP 7/29/2021 467. As he was running, he heard bullets and 

turned briefly to see the man with the rifle firing after him. 

7/29/2021 RP 467-69. He ran into the woods surrounding the 

property, located a neighbor, and called 911. 7/29/2021 RP 47-

76, 469. 

After Mr. Fryer escaped, the man with the rifle 

approached Mr. Stebbins and shot him in his legs. 7/19/2021 

RP 732. Mr. Stebbins ran and hid in the woods as the two men 

drove away. 7/19/2021 RP 735--40. He later called 911 and 

was transported to the hospital for treatment. 7/19/2021 740, 

752. 

A Pierce County Sheriffs deputy got a call of a home 

invasion involving a black Escalade. 7/21/2021 RP 17, 19. 

Shortly after, he drove by a car matching this description. 

7/21/2021 RP 18-20. The windows were darkly tinted and the 

deputy could not see the driver or how many passengers were 

inside. 7/21/2021 RP 37-38. When the Escalade turned the 
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comer and took off, the deputy chased after it. 7/21/2021 RP 

21-22. The chase ended when the Escalade blew a tire and the 

driver fled the car. 7/21/2021 at 50, 57, 59. 

3. Mr. Giancoli is arrested, but Mr. Fryer does not 

identify him; Mr. Stebbins only identifies Mr. 

Giancoli after learning of his arrest and viewing 

his Facebook profile. 

Police arrested Dennis Giancoli behind an apartment 

complex near where the Escalade blew a tire. 7 /2 l /2021 RP 

146-47. They arrested a second man, Christopher Conklin, in 

the nearby woods. 7/21/2021 RP 63. 

Police retrieved Mr. Fryer to see if he could identify Mr. 

Giancoli or Mr. Conklin. Mr. Fryer stated Mr. Giancoli 

"looked like a completely different person, completely" and did 

not identify him as one of his assailants. 8/2/2021 RP 517. 

However, Mr. Fryer thought Mr. Conklin was the man who shot 

at him with the rifle. 7/29/2021 RP 482. 

Later that day, construction workers found a rifle in 

pieces on the side of the road. 7/27/2021 RP 87, 92. However, 

12 



the supposed handgun was never recovered. 7/19/2021 RP 717; 

7/29/2021 RP 449. 

After Mr. Giancoli and Mr. Conklin were booked into 

jail, Mr. Stebbins' wife looked them up on jail's website. 

Motions in Limine Exhibit #11 at 44. She then found their 

profiles on Facebook. Id. at 45. She showed the profile photos 

to Mr. Stebbins, who became convinced the two men in the 

profiles were his assailants. Id. 

Two weeks after the incident, a detective compiled "six­

pack" photo montages that included Mr. Giancoli and Mr. 

Conklin. 7/12/2021 RP 23; Motions in Limine Exhibits # 1-10. 

Mr. Stebbins picked Mr. Giancoli as one of his assailants. 

7/12/2021 RP 26. Mr. Stebbins did not tell the detective that he 

had seen Mr. Giancoli's Facebook profile, and the detective did 

not learn this information for another ten months. 7/12/2021 

RP 31-32. 

13 



4. Following a jury trial, Mr. Gian coli is convicted of 

several strike offenses and sentenced to die in 

prison. 

Both Mr. Giancoli and Mr. Conklin were charged with 

five "strike" offenses: two counts of assault in the first degree, 

one count of burglary in the first degree, and two counts of 

kidnapping in the first degree, all with firearm enhancements. 

CP 16-19 (amended information). Mr. Giancoli was also 

charged with unlawful possession of a firearm in the first 

degree, eluding a pursuing police vehicle, and intimidating a 

witness. CP 18. 

Mr. Giancoli and Mr. Conklin were tried together. The 

key issue was identity: whether Mr. Giancoli and Mr. Conklin 

were Mr. Stebbins and Mr. Fryer's assailants. 

The jury convicted both Mr. Giancoli and Mr. Conklin of 

all charged counts, with the exception of intimidating a witness, 

on which the jury found Mr. Giancoli guilty of the lesser­

included offense of witness tampering. CP 192-209. Because 

Mr. Giancoli was previously convicted of two "strike" offenses, 

14 



the court reluctantly imposed a death-in-prison sentence. CP 

463; 9/17/21 RP 823, 828. 

5. Division One reverses all of Mr. Conklin's strike 

convictions, while Division Two denies Mr. 

Giancoli relief on the same legal grounds and 

affirms his death in prison sentence. 

On appeal, Mr. Giancoli and Mr. Conklin both argued 

that the assault convictions merged with the kidnapping 

convictions, and that the kidnapping and burglary convictions 

violated their constitutional rights to jury unanimity and notice. 

The State conceded error on these arguments in both cases. 

The appeals were not consolidated, and Mr. Conklin's 

appeal was transferred from Division Two to Division One to 

"expedite review." State v. Conklin, No. 84634-5-II, Order 

Transferring Cases (Oct. 21, 2022). Mr. Conklin's case was 

decided first, and Division One reversed all of his strike 

convictions based on the State's concessions. See State v. 

Conklin, No. 84634-5-I (May 8, 2023) (unpublished). 
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The State filed a motion for reconsideration, arguing 

Division One erred by vacating the assault convictions on 

merger grounds. The State asserted it only meant to concede 

the merger of the assault with the kidnapping convictions if 

Division One was not inclined to reverse the kidnapping 

convictions on other grounds. However, Division One declined 

to reconsider its opinion, and this Court denied review. State v. 

Conklin, No. 84634-5-I, Order Denying Mot. for 

Reconsideration (June 29, 2023); State v. Conklin, No. 

1022387, Order Terminating Review (Nov. 8, 2023). 

Mr. Giancoli urged Division Two to follow the lead of 

Division One, noting that the State had conceded the merger 

issue and arguing that justice required the same outcome in 

both appeals. While Division Two reversed Mr. Giancoli's 

kidnapping and burglary convictions, as well as all firearm 

enhancements, it declined to follow Division One's lead in 

vacating the assault convictions. Op. at 17-22. As a result, Mr. 

Giancoli still had three "strikes." Id. at 21-22. While 
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acknowledging that "it would be ideal for codefendants to 

receive the same treatment," Division Two held that because 

the State "clarified its position at oral argument," Mr. Giancoli 

had no right to the same outcome as his co-defendant. Id. at 22. 

Division Two also affirmed Mr. Giancoli's sentence of 

life without the possibility of release, reasoning that such a 

sentence did not offend "evolving standards of decency" 

because this Court had converted death penalty sentences to life 

sentences in State v. Gregory, 192 Wn.2d 1, 427 P.3d 621 

(2018). Op. at 24. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

1. Review is warranted because the disparate 

outcomes of Mr. Conklin and Mr. Giancoli's 

appeals is a miscarriage of justice that violates 

equal protection. 

This case was overcharged to the hilt. The prosecution 

reached too far, stretching its evidence across too many counts 

and encouraging the jury to convict on uncharged and 

unsupported alternatives. On appeal, the prosecution 

1 7  



acknowledged as much, conceding errors occurred in securing 

each of Mr. Giancoli's and Mr. Conklin's strike offenses at 

trial. 

On appeal, Mr. Conklin initially only challenged the 

constitutionality of the eyewitness identification. However, 

after Mr. Giancoli's opening brief was filed, Mr. Conklin filed 

a supplemental brief adopting the same legal arguments. It was 

these identical arguments that ultimately led to the 

prosecution's concessions in both cases. 

By pure chance, Mr. Conklin's appeal was transferred 

from Division Two to Division One and heard first. In 

response to the State's concessions, Division One reversed all 

of Mr. Conklin's strike convictions. When the State contested 

this outcome, Division One appropriately held the State to the 

consequences of its concessions. 

Division Two refused to grant Mr. Giancoli the same 

relief. Instead, it allowed the State to "clarify" its position at 

oral argument and limit its previous concessions. Op. at 22. As 
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a result, Mr. Giancoli remains a third-striker and is sentenced to 

die in prison. By contrast, Mr. Conklin has likely served his 

time on his remaining conviction, a Class C felony. 

This disparate outcome flows purely from division 

transfer and timing. It does not reflect the culpability of the 

parties or any difference in their claims. In fact, Mr. Conklin is 

clearly the more culpable party; it was him, not Mr. Giancoli, 

who shot after Mr. Fryer and shot Mr. Stebbins in the legs. 

Division Two acknowledged this disparate outcome was 

not "ideal." Op. at 22. This was a flagrant understatement. 

Leaving Mr. Giancoli to die in prison while his co-defendant 

walks free is a gross miscarriage of justice that implicates equal 

protection principles. See State v. Handley, 115 Wn.2d 275, 

290-91, 796 P.2d 1266 (1990); U.S. Const. amend. XIV. 

Division Two recognized as much in State v. Oeung, 

where Ms. Oeung's more culpable co-defendant was granted an 

opportunity for resentencing after his case was transferred from 

Division Two to Division One. State v. Oeung, 2021 WL 
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1550310 at *7, 17 Wn. App. 2d 1021 (Apr. 20, 2021) 

(unpublished). Recognizing that Ms. Oeung was an accomplice 

and "a young woman of color," and that the sentencing judge 

had expressed discomfort in imposing the original sentence, 

Division Two held it would be a "gross miscarriage of justice" 

to deny her the same opportunity for resentencing. Id. All 

three judges agreed with this outcome, even though "the 

applicable law does not directly support this result." Id. (Maxa, 

J., concurring). 

Like Ms. Oeung, Mr. Giancoli was less culpable and a 

person of color; further, both the sentencing judge and victim 

expressed discomfort in sentencing him to die in prison. 

9/17/21 RP 823, 828. Additionally, unlike in Oeung, the State 

conceded error in this case. It is unclear why Division Two 

deemed Mr. Giancoli undeserving of the same basic fairness 
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here. This Court must take review to correct this injustice. 

RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). 

2. Review is required because Mr. Giancoli's death­

in-prison sentence is cruel punishment under 

article I, section 14 as it is imposed in a racially 

disparate manner and does not comport with 

evolving standards of decency. 

Three-strikes sentences are imposed under the Persistent 

Offenders Accountability Act (POAA) in a racially 

disproportionate manner, and these sentences do not comport 

with evolving standards of decency as compared to other 

jurisdictions' practices. Review is therefore warranted for this 

Court to consider if a three-strikes death-in-prison sentence 

violates article I, section 14 of the Washington Constitution. 

RAP 13 .4(b )(3). At a minimum, this Court should consider 

whether the POAA is unconstitutional as administered for those 

convicted of second-degree assault. Id. 

In Gregory, this Court held the death penalty violated 

article I, section 14 as administered. State v. Gregory, 192 

Wn.2d 1, 5, 427 P.3d 621 (2018); id. at 36 (Johnson, J., 
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concurring). This Court cited a statistical study demonstrating 

that in Washington, Black defendants were more than four 

times as likely to be sentenced to death as other defendants. Id.

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