FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/18/2024 2:54 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102602-1

**SUPREME COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DENNIS RAY GIANCOLI,

Petitioner.

Appeal from Court of Appeals No. 56287-1-II

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT
Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

THEODORE M. CROPLEY
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 27453 / OID #91121
930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
(253) 355-5585

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. This Court should decline to review the disparate outcomes of the appeals of Giancoli and Conklin as the Court of Appeals properly applied the doctrines of merger and double jeopardy.

Giancoli claims that review is warranted because the disparate outcomes of Conklin and Giancoli’s appeals is a miscarriage of justice that violates equal protection. Pet. For Revw. (“PFR”) at 17-21. Review should be denied as the Court of Appeals properly applied the doctrines of merger and double jeopardy.

In the instant case, the Court of Appeals properly found that the merger doctrine only applies at sentencing to correct double jeopardy violations. As the State conceded that Giancoli’s kidnapping convictions should be reversed as there was

insufficient evidence to support the extreme mental distress alternative means of kidnapping, the court found that there would be no kidnapping convictions for the assaults to merge with.¹ As Giancoli did not otherwise prevail on any challenge to his assault convictions, the court affirmed Giancoli's convictions for assault in the first degree. Op. at 21-22.

The State acknowledges that Division One of the Court of Appeals came to a different conclusion in Conklin's appeal. In Conklin's appeal, as set forth above, although Division One rejected Conklin's argument that his convictions for assault in the first degree should be reversed due to impermissibly suggestive and flawed identification procedures, it nevertheless found that his vacated kidnapping convictions merged with his convictions for assault in the first degree, which had the result of vacating the convictions for assault in the first degree, even

¹ As support for this holding, the court cited to *State v. Aguilar*, 27 Wn. App. 2d 905, 931-933, 534 P.3d 360 (2023), which declined to reach double jeopardy arguments after reversing the convictions that implicated double jeopardy on other grounds.

though that argument was made (and conceded to) as an alternative argument to the argument that the convictions for kidnapping in the first degree should be dismissed due to insufficient evidence to support both of the alternative means charged. *See State v. Conklin*, No. 84634-5-I (May 8, 2023) (unpublished).²

Division One came to the wrong conclusion in *Conklin*. Although this Court denied the State's petition for review of that decision, the reason may very well have been that this Court found it was simply an error that inured to the benefit of the appellant and this Court is primarily a court of policy and not "an error correction court." Benjamin S. Halasz, "Writing Tips from the Bench: To Be Persuasive Keep It Simple," WASH. ST. BAR NEWS, vol. 78, no. 1 at 19 (Dec. 2023/Jan. 2024).

² Respondent does not object to Giancoli's motion for this Court to take judicial notice of Conklin's amended judgment and sentence, entered on February 2, 2024, as well as the current Department of Corrections inmate roster.

In any event, Division Two in the instant case properly applied the doctrines of merger and double jeopardy.³ In *State v. Michielli*, 132 Wn.2d 229, 238–39, 937 P.2d 587 (1997), this Court held that the merger doctrine arises only when a defendant has been found guilty of multiple charges, and the court must then ask if the Legislature intended only one punishment for the multiple convictions. Although courts may not enter multiple convictions for the same offense without offending double jeopardy, merger only becomes an issue at sentencing. *Id.* at 238.

In the instant case, the Court of Appeals agreed with the parties that Giancoli’s convictions for kidnapping in the first degree should be dismissed due to insufficient evidence being presented to support all of the alternative means charged.

³ Although respondent believes that its concessions in both the Giancoli and Conklin appeals were clear, Division Two below acknowledged that respondent was able to “clarify” the scope of its concessions at oral argument. Op. at 21-22. In Conklin’s appeal, Division One gave respondent no such opportunity as it declined to hear oral argument prior to the rendering of its opinion.

Accordingly, the merger doctrine was inapplicable here as, with the kidnapping convictions reversed, there remained nothing to “merge” Giancoli’s convictions for assault in the first degree with.

In other words, under *Michielli*, the merger issue only arises if both the convictions for assault in the first degree and the convictions for kidnapping in the first degree were valid; in that case, the convictions would merge and Giancoli would be appropriately sentenced for either the kidnappings or the assaults, whichever were the greater offenses. Here, however, as Giancoli’s convictions for kidnapping in the first degree were not valid, the Court of Appeals’ decision not to merge these convictions with his valid convictions for assault in the first degree is fully in accord with this Court’s decision in *Michielli*.

The essential rule underlying the merger doctrine is clear: a defendant must be sentenced on at least one of the merged convictions or else there is no double jeopardy violation and no basis for a defendant to avoid sentencing on the otherwise valid

conviction. The mere fact that the results of the appeals of Giancoli and Conklin ultimately differ does not require that the properly imposed greater sentence must be reduced to comport with the improperly imposed lesser sentence.⁴ See *Ahmad v. Town of Springdale*, 178 Wn. App. 333, 345, 314 P.3d 729 (2013) (discretion assumes that two decision makers may reach a different outcome). This Court should decline Giancoli's petition for review on this issue.

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /

⁴ Giancoli's reference to *State v. Oeung*, 2021 WL 1550310, 17 Wn. App. 2d 1021 (Apr. 20, 2021) (unpublished) is unpersuasive. The court in *Oeung* based its holding on the fact that the trial court stated that it would have granted Oeung an exceptional downward sentence if it could have, whereas it would not have done so for her co-defendant. The court found that it would be a gross miscarriage of justice for the co-defendant to receive an opportunity to argue again for an exceptional downward sentence on all counts based on recent case law, but to deprive Oeung of that same opportunity. *Id.* at *7. In the instant case, the trial court made no such comment and there has been no "recent case law" supporting Giancoli's claim.

B. This Court should decline to review the constitutionality of Giancoli's third-strike sentence of life without the possibility of parole as this Court held in *State v. Gregory*, 192 Wn.2d 1, and *State v. Reynolds*, 2 Wn.2d 195, that punishment under the three-strikes provision of the POAA is constitutional.

Giancoli claims that review is required because his “death in-prison sentence is cruel punishment under article I, section 14 as it is imposed in a racially disparate manner and does not comport with evolving standards of decency.” PFR at 21-31. Review should be denied as to this issue as this Court held in *State v. Gregory*, 192 Wn.2d 1, and *State v. Reynolds*, 2 Wn.2d 195, that punishment under the three-strikes provision of the POAA is constitutional.

In the instant case, the Court of Appeals held that, based on this Court’s holdings in *State v. Gregory*, 192 Wn.2d 1, and *State v. Reynolds*, 2 Wn.2d 195, punishment under the three-strikes provision of the POAA of the SRA is constitutional:

Gregory held that the death penalty was unconstitutional largely because the penalty was “unequally applied—sometimes by where the crime took place, or the county of residence, or the available budgetary resources at any given point in

time, or the race of the defendant,” and failed to serve “any legitimate penological goal.” 192 Wn.2d at 5. In contrast, the Supreme Court held in *Reynolds* that life without the possibility of release sentences for serious offenders satisfy the penological goals of retribution, deterrence, and incapacitation. *Reynolds*, 535 P.3d at 436. And the Supreme Court’s remedy in *Gregory* was to convert all death sentences to life without the possibility of release. 192 Wn.2d at 35-36. As a result, we cannot conclude that life sentences without the possibility of release offend our evolving standards of decency in the same way that death sentences do without contradicting the Supreme Court’s resolution of *Gregory*. *Id.*; *Reynolds*, 535 P.3d at 437-38.

Op. at 25.

As he did in the Court of Appeals, Giancoli here, too, offers an array of statistics to support his claim that his third-strike life without parole sentence was imposed in a racially disparate manner and does not comport with evolving standards of decency.⁵ However, these statistics have long been available and as recently as six months ago, this Court found that the three-

⁵ Racial discrimination, as a constitutional matter, occurs only when a public official intends to hold a person’s race against him, not from a racially disparate effect. *Luft v. Evers*, 963 F.3d 665, 670 (7th Cir. 2020). Giancoli offers nothing but these one-sided statistical studies in support of review.

strikes provision of the POAA was constitutional. *See State v. Reynolds*, 2 Wn.2d 195.

The POAA sentencing procedure is distinguishable from death penalty proportionality review. The death penalty scheme required multiple discretionary decisions that permitted the possible introduction of racial or other suspect bias. *State v. Cross*, 156 Wn.2d 580, 623-24, 132 P.3d 80 (2006), as corrected (Apr. 13, 2006). The majority of these sentencing procedures rested on discretionary acts: the prosecutor must seek a special sentencing session; the prosecutor must judge whether sufficient mitigating circumstances exist to preclude the penalty; jurors must unanimously agree that the penalty is warranted; and jurors must also agree that sufficient mitigating factors do not exist. At each individual exercise of decision-making, the danger of introducing implicit or overt racial biases existed.

The number of discretionary decisions involved in the POAA sentencing is quite minimal, compared to a death penalty case. Although some amount of discretion is involved in an

individual prosecutor's charging decisions, the sentencing of persistent offender affords no discretion. A "persistent offender shall be sentenced to a term of total confinement for life." RCW 9.94A.570. There is no special sentencing procedure, the trial court cannot impose a different sentence, and every persistent offender receives an identical sentence. Neither the prosecutor nor the trier of fact need consider any mitigating factors. Implicit or overt racial biases cannot affect the sentencing of a persistent offender because every defendant who qualifies as a persistent offender at sentencing is treated identically. It is precisely this lack of discretionary judgment that renders sentencing under the POAA immune from arbitrary imposition.

Whenever a sentencing court concludes an offender is a "persistent offender," the court must impose a life sentence, and the offender is not eligible for parole or any form of early release. RCW 9.94A.570. A "persistent offender" is an offender currently being sentenced for a "most serious offense" who also has two or more prior convictions for "most serious offenses." RCW

9.94A.030(37). RCW 9.94A.030(32) lists Washington’s “most serious offenses,” and the Legislature recently removed second degree robbery. The only classification the POAA creates is a category of convicted defendants who are considered persistent offenders, and who must receive a term of life imprisonment. Offenders who do not meet the definition of persistent offenders are sentenced according to the other provisions of the SRA.

Moreover, the POAA statutory scheme does not stratify different classes of persistent offenders based on race or any other factor. The statute requires all persistent offenders to be sentenced to life imprisonment. Offenders meet the definition based on their criminal history, not their race. Consequently, a POAA sentence is not, and cannot be, imposed by a court in an arbitrary and racially biased manner.

Much needs to be done by our communities to address socioeconomic inequalities that contribute to higher rates of certain violent crimes committed by people of color. But the existence of these conditions and their impact on

disproportionality of POAA sentences by race does not render the POAA unconstitutional. This Court should decline Giancoli's petition for review on this issue.

C. The Court of Appeals below properly applied this Court's holding in *State v. Derri*, 99 Wn.2d 658.

Giancoli claims this Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals misapplied this Court's holding in *State v. Derri*, 99 Wn.2d 658. PFR at 31-35. Review should be denied as to this issue as the Court of Appeals properly applied this Court's holding in *Derri*.

The Court of Appeals in the instant case analyzed the eyewitness identification procedures employed by law enforcement under this Court's decision in *Derri*. Op. at 12 ("we consider Giancoli's arguments that are based on the analysis in *Derri*."). In *Derri*, this Court held that a court examining whether an identification procedure was impermissibly suggestive "must apply relevant, widely accepted modern science on eyewitness identification at each step of the test." 199 Wn.2d at 675, 677. However, although these factors are each "potentially

suggestive,” including that identification procedures should be administered in double-blind fashion, they are not automatically dispositive. *See id.* at 679, 682. In *Derri*, this Court held that “each identification procedure” in that case was impermissibly suggestive, but the identifications were nevertheless reliable under the totality of the circumstances. *Id.* at 685.

In analyzing the instant case under *Derri*, the Court of Appeals found that the identification procedures used by law enforcement were not impermissibly suggestive, even though the photo montage procedure was not administered in a double-blind fashion, and therefore did not reach the issue of reliability. Op. at 14-15. *See State v. Vickers*, 148 Wn.2d 91, 118, 59 P.3d 58 (2002); *see also State v. Brown*, 128 Wn. App. at 307, 312–13, 116 P.3d 400 (2005) (“If the defendant fails to meet this initial burden, the inquiry ends”).

The court below reasoned that the only *Derri* factor that Giancoli identified as weighing in favor of impermissible suggestiveness was the lack of the double-blind procedure. As

this Court in *Derri* found *multiple* factors contributed to suggestiveness and did not say that *one* factor is or should be dispositive (*see* 199 Wn.2d at 679), the Court of Appeals reasonably found that the procedure used was not impermissibly suggestive despite the lack of double-blind presentation as there was no evidence that the lack of such a presentation made any difference in this case.⁶ This Court should decline Giancoli's petition for review on this issue.

D. This Court should decline to review the issue of whether the reversal of firearm enhancements requires reversal of the underlying conviction because the Court of Appeals properly declined to address this issue as it was raised for the first time in Giancoli's Reply Brief.

Giancoli claims that review is needed to clarify that reversal of firearm enhancements requires reversal of the

⁶ DNA evidence tied Giancoli to both the property where the attacks took place and the vehicle in which the suspects fled the scene. 7/27/2021 RP 126; 7/28/2021 RP 291-292; 7/29/2021 RP 462; 8/2/2021 RP 514-15; 8/4/2021 RP 690. This evidence, coupled with Giancoli being found hiding in the woods near where the vehicle crashed (7/20/21 RP 51, 54, 55, 82; 7/21/21 RP 18, 26, 44, 48-62, 146-147; 7/27/21 RP 31-58), renders any error in the identification procedure harmless.

underlying conviction. PFR at 35-41. However, as Giancoli raised this claim on appeal only in his Reply Brief, the Court of Appeals properly declined to address this issue. *See Ainsworth v. Progressive Cas. Ins. Co.*, 180 Wn. App. 52, 322 P.3d 6 (2014) (An appellate court will not consider issues argued for the first time in the reply brief).

In the instant case, Giancoli raised his claim that the reversal of firearm enhancements requires reversal of the underlying conviction for the first time in his Reply Brief. The Court of Appeals declined to address this issue:

Giancoli's assertion that we must also reverse the underlying assault convictions is a novel argument raised for the first time in his reply brief. "An issue raised and argued for the first time in a reply brief is too late to warrant consideration." *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992); *see* RAP 10.3(c).

Op. at 21.

Under RAP 13.4(b), petitions for review are limited to issues resolved in the Court of Appeals. Here, the Court of Appeals never reached the merits of Giancoli's claim because the

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